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Jennifer S. Diamond, Illinois ARDC No. 6278482
Susan J. Gradman, Illinois ARDC No. 6225060
Rosemary Hollinger, Illinois ARDC No. 03123647
United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission
525 West Monroe Street, Suite 1100

Chicago, IL 60661 _ . o
Telephone (312) 596-0549-JD ‘ ran

General Number (312) 596-0700 r_gfc‘: o
Facsimile (312) 596-0714 ' ' oxr = M
jdiamond@cfic.gov; sgradman@cftc.gov. =~ : ;E: ro g
Local Counsel: ""g; S

Kent Kawakami, CA Bar No. 149803 : Se =

United States Attorney’s Office, Central District of California ’-'a‘ o

3(_)0 North Los Angeles Street Room 7516
Los Angeles, CA 90012
(213) 894-4858

Facsimile (213) 894-2380 DUPL\U-\TE

Kent.Kawakami@usdoj.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff, United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN DIVISION
) 44 NX
) CaseNoCVﬁ5 gﬁ ?Zé Ci (MA )
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES )
TRADING COMMISSION, ) COMPLAINT FOR
Plaintiff, - ) INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER
) EQUITABLE RELIEF AND
vs. ) FOR CIVIL PENALTIES
BRETT E. LOVETT, individually and ) EUXI “ Cnfllz&rgg fg%“fso DITY
i b
d/bla/ NORTHWEST ASSET FUND, ; AMENDED, 7 US.C. §§ 1-25
Defendant. ; JUDGE: '
) - TIME:
g DATE:
) PLACE
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L. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. Plaintiff United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission

(“CFTC” or “Comm1ss1on”) brings this action against the defendant for engaglng
in acts and practlces that violate prov131ons of the Commodity Exchange Act,
7TUS.C. § 1 ef seq. (2002) (the “Act”) and Commission Regulations promulgated
thereunder (“Regulations”) 17 C.F.R. § 1.1 et seq. (2005).

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6¢ of
the Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2002), which authorizes the Commission to seek
inj unctive relief against any person whenev'er it shall appear that such person has
engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a
violation of any provision of the Act or any rule‘,, regulation or order thereunder.

3. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the
Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1(e) (2002), in that Defendant is found in, inhabits, or transacts
business in this District, and the acts and practices in violation of the Act have
occurred, are occurring, or are about to occur within this district, among other
places. Specifically, Defendant Brett E. Lovett d/b/a Northwest Asset Fund
(“Lovett” or “Defendant”) resides in this distfict and transacts the majority of his
business in this district. | |

II. SUMMARY

4.  From at least September 2004 to the present (“relevant tlme perlod”) _

Lovett has fraudulently solicited and accepted at least $120,000 in customer ﬁ,lnds,
for use 1n trading commodity futures. Among other things, Defendant made
misrepresentations of material facts when sohcltmg at least one customer,
misappropriated at least $4,000 of customer funds, and created false account

statements for at least one customer that misrepresented that the customer, instead

{of Lovett, was actually the owner of the account.
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5. Consequently, Defendant engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage
in acts or practices that violate the anti-fralid provisio'rrs of the Commodity
Exchange Act (“Act”),‘7 USC §§ 1 et seq. (2001). Specifically, the Defendant
has violated Section 4b of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b, by failing to inform at least one
customer that his funds would be used to trade commodity futures and options,
misrepresenting the profit potential and risk of loss in trading commodity futures
and options, misappropriating customer funds and by creating false statements for
at least one customer in connection with commodity futures transactions.

6. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(a)
(2002), the Commission brings this action to enjoin the uniawful acts and practices
of the Defendant and to bar him from engaging in the 'solicitation of customers in
relation to any commodity futures and options related activity.' The Commission
seeks civil monetary penalties in the amount of not more than the higher of |
$120,000 for violations occurring prior to October 23, 2004, and $130,000 for
violations occurring after October 23 '2004 or triple the monetary gain to the
Defendant for each violation of the Act. In addition, the Commission seeks
dlsgorgement of the Defendant’s ill- -gotten gains, restltutlon to customers,
prejudgment interest, the appointment of an equity receiver if necessary, and such
other equitable relief as the Court may deem necessary or appropriate. |

7. Unless enjoined by this. Court, the Defendant is likely to contin_ue to
engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and
pracﬁces, as more fully described below.

1. THE PARTIES

A. Plaintiff

8. Plaintiff United States CommodifV Futures Trading Commission is an

: mdependent federal regulatory agency that is charged with responSIblhty for

admlmstermg and enforcmg the provisions of the Commodlty Exchange Act,
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TUS.C. §§ 1 et seq. (2002), and the Regulatlons promulgated thereunder, 17

C.F.R. §§ 1 et seq. (2005).
B. Defendant |
9. Defendant Brett E. Lovett is 34 years old and resides in Oxnard,

Califomia. He has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.
Lovett has been doing business as Northwest Asset Fund, 1795 10 Strathern Street,
Reseda, California, since June 2002. Lovett is a self-proclaimed financial advisor
and fund manager. |

Iv. FACTS
A.  Defendant Made Misrepresentations of Material Fact in the Solicitation
of Customers : |

10.  From at least September 2004 to the present Lovett persuaded at least
one md1v1dual whom he knew from his church (“customer”), to invest $55,000
with him and falsely informed the customer that he would invest his funds in a low
risk investment, similar to a certificate of deposit, that would provide $1,000 in
interest per month with no risk of losing his principal investment.

11. = From at least September 2004 to the present, Lovett solicited and
accepted at least $120,000 from at least one customer for the purpose of trading
commodity futures. | - | |

12.  As discussed more fully below, Defendant falsely informed that
customer that he had deposited his funds into two accounts in the customer’s name.
However, Defendant actually deposited the customer’s funds into a commodity

trading account and a money market account in Defendant’s own name.

{B.  Defendant Misappropriated Customer Funds.

13.  Lovett has misappropriated at least one customer’s funds. For

_ example,- on October 20, 2004, at Lovettis instruction, the customer provided

Lovett with two cashier’s checks, one made out to Northwest Asset Fund, which

Lovett explained was the name of his company, for $55,000 and one made out to
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Vision Limfted Partnership (“Vision”), a registered futures commission merchant
(“FCM”) for $120,000. At Lovett’s request, the customer had both checks made
out showmg Lovett as the remitter.

14. Lovett deposited the $55,000 made out to Northwest Asset Fund into an
E-trade Financial (“E-Trade”) money market account in his own name on |
October 22, 2004 and obtained a debit card attached to the account. Lovett spent
approximately $4,000 on personal expenses and transferred $51,000 into a bank
account in his name at Citibank on November 9, 2004. |

15.  The $120,000 cashiers check was déposited into a pre-exisiting
commodity futures trading account at Vision in Lovett’s name. Lovett primarily
trades commodity options in this account. Th‘e account was opened on July 28,
2003, | B
C. Defendant Made False Reports or Statements

16. Lovett made false reports or statements to at least one customer. For
example, Lovett told the customer who had provided Lovett with the $55,000
cashiers check made out to Northwest Asset Fund that Lovett had opened an '
E-Trade account on the customer’s behalf in the customer’s name. Lovett also
gave the customer a falsified account statement purporting to affirm that the
account was in the customer’s name. When the customer called E-Trade to inquire
about_ his account, E-Trade informed him that it did not have any accounts in his
name and the account nurhber listed on the statement he had was for an account in
the name of Brett Edward Lovett domg business as Northwest Asset Fund.

17. Lovett also told the customer who had prov1ded Lovett with the
$120,000 cashiers check made out to Vision that Lovett had opened a Vision
account on the customer’s behalf in the customer’s name. Lovett also gave the
customer a falsified account statement with the customer’ E name on it. When the

customer called Vision to inquire about his account, Vlslon informed him that
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there was no account in his name and the number listed on the account statement
he received from Lovett was in the name of Brett Edward Lovett.
| 18.  When the customer asked Lovett Why his name was not on the
accounts at Vision and E-Trade, Lovett responded only that “it didn’t work that
way.” | | |
D.  Lovett refused to return customer funds
19.  Lovett refused to return at least one customer’s funds. The church

member who had provided Lovett with the two cashi.ers checks totaling $175,000
called Lovett repeatedly requesting return of his funds and Lovett ignored his calls.
On February 23, 2005, the customer filed a police report agalnst Lovett alleging

grand theft.” Lovett finally called the customer back and claimed that he would
return the customer’s funds.

20..  However, Lovett attempted to discourage the customer from

requesting return of his funds by informing him that it would take at least a month

to unwind his positions, close out his account and withdraw the balance.

21.  Additionally, Lovett told the customer that he would be assessed a
$35,000 to $40,000 early withdrawal penalty for closing out the account and
withdrawing the balance prior to a year’s time Although the customer informed
Lovett that he never agreed to keep his funds in any account for a year, Lovett
advised him that that was the rule.

22.  Although the customer informed Lovett that he wanted his funds |

returned regardless of the waltlng period and the monetary penalty, to date, the -

| customer has not received any of his money back

E. Current Status of Customer Funds

23.  According to Vision, Lovett’s current account balance is $170,000. |
On or about April 5, 2005, Levett attempted to withdraw at least some of the funds
in the account. Upon obtaining falsified account statements from Lovett’s

customer, Vision has placed a “hold” on Lovett’s account and refuses to allow any
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withdrawals, although they are still allowing Lovett to trade, thereby placing the
account funds at risk.

V. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS
' COUNT1

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION S 4b(a)(2)(i) AND (iii) OF THE ACT: FRAUD
BY MISREPRESENTATIONS AND FALSE STATEMENTS AND
MISAPPROPRIATION OF CUSTOMER FUNDS

24.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 23 are re—alleged and
incorporated herein.

25.  Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i) and
(ii1), make it unlawful for any person to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or
defraud; or willfully deceive or attempt to deceive by any means whatsoever other
persens in or in connection with orders to make, or the making of, contracts of sale

of commodities, for future delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of such

| other persons where such contracts for future delivery were or may have been used

for (a) hedging any transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity, or the
products or byproducts thereof, or (b) determining the price basis of any
transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity, or (c) delivering any such
commodity sold, shipped or received in interstate commerce for the fulfillment
thereof. | o

26. Lovett w1llfully Vlolated §§ 4b(a)(2)(1) and (iii) of the Act by, among
other thlngs (1) making material mlsrepresentatlons and omitting material facts,
including misrepresenting to at least one customer that he would invest his funds in
a low risk investment similar to a certificate of deposit when he actually invested
his funds in commodity futures; (2) misrepresenting to at least one customer that
he would earn $1,000 per month with minimal or no risk of losing his investment;

and (3) misappropriating customer funds.
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27.  Each material miérepresentation or omission made during the relevant .
time period, including but not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is
alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the
Act. | |

COUNT II
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4b(a)(2)(ii) OF THE ACT
FRAUD BY MAKING FALSE STATEMENTS

28.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 23 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein. |

29.  Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii), makes it
unlawful for any person to willfully make or cause to be made to other persons
false reports or statements, or willfully to enter or cause to be entered for other
persons false records in or in connection with orders to make, or the making of,
contracte of sale of commodities, for future deliVery, made, or to be made, for or
on behalf of such other persons where such contracts for future delivery were or
may have been used for (a) hedging any trahSaction in interstate commerce in such
commodity, or the products or byproducts theree’f, or (b) determining the price
basis of any transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity, or |

(c) delivering any such commod1ty sold, shlpped or received in interstate

commerce for the fulfillment thereof

 30.  Lovett willfully violated Section 4b(a)(2)(11) of the Act by, among
other things making or causing to be made false reports and false statements

issued or communicated to at least one customer who invested money with Lovett

to trade commodity futures contracts.

~ 31.  Each false report or statement made during the relevant time period, -
1nclud1ng but not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged asa

separate and distinct V1olat1on of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act.
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V. RELIEF REQUESTED

- WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court, as

authorized by Section 6c¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, and pursuant to its own

equitable powers:

A.

Find that the Defendant violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(i), (i1) and (iii) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i), (ii) and (iii)(2002);

Enter a statutory restraining order on notice restraining and enjoining

Defendant and all persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of

his agents, servants, successors, assigns, and attorneys, and all persons

insofar as they are acting in active concert or participation with him

who receive actual notice of such order by personal service or

otherwise, from directly or indirectly:

1.

Destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering or disposing of any
books and records, documents, correspondence, brochures,
manuals, electronically stored data, tapé records or other
property of Defendant, wherever located, including all such
records concerning Defendant’s business operations;

Refusing to permit authorized representatives of the
Commission to inspect, when and as requested, any books and
records, documents, correspondence, brochures, manuals,
electroniéally stored ‘data, tape records or other property of
Defendanf, wherever. ch_ated, including all suéh records
conceming Defendant’s business operations; and

Withdrawing, transferring, removing, dissipating, concealing or

disposing of, in any manner, any funds, assets, or other

- property, wherever situated, including but not limited to, all

funds, personal property, money or securities held in safes,
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safety deposit boxes and all funds on deposit in ahy financial
institution, bank or savings and loan account held by, under the -

control, or in the name of defendant.

Enter orders of preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting the

Defendant and any other person or entity associated with him,

“including any successor thereof, from:

1.

engaging in conduct, in violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i),(ii) and
(iil) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (ii) and (iii)(2002);
engaging in, controlling, or directing the trading of ahy
commodity futures or options accounts for or on behalf of any
other person or entity, whether by power of attorney or
otherwise; and | | |

applying for registration or claiming exemption from
registration with the Commission in aﬁy capacity, and engaging
in any activity requiring such registration or-exemption from
registration with the CqmmiSsion, except as provided for in .
Regulation 4.‘1 4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2005), or acting
as a principal, agent, officer or employee bf any person
registered, required to be fegistered, or exempted from
registration with the Commission, except as provided for in
Regulation 4.14(a)(9). This includes, but is not limited to,
Soliciting, accepting, or receiving any funds, revenue or other
property from any Othér person, giving commodity trading
advice for compensation, éxcept as provided in Regulativon
4.14(a)(9), or solicitihg prospective customers related to 'fhe

purchase or sale of commodity futures or options.

10
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Enter an order directing the Defendant and any successor thereof, to
disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order,‘ all
benefits received from the acts or practices which constitute violations
of the Act, as described herein, and interest thereon from the date of

such violations;

Enter an order directing the Defendant to make full restitution to every
customer whose funds were received by him as a result of acts and
practices which constituted violations of the Act, as described herein,

including pre-judgment interest;

Enter an order assessing a civil monetary peﬁalty against the
Defendant in the amount of not more than the higher of $120,000 for
violations prior to October 24, 2004 and $130,000 for violations
thereafter, or triple the monetary gain fo the Defendant for each

violation by the Defendant of the Act;

Enter an order directing that the Defendant make an accounting to the
court of all his assets and liabilities, together with all funds he
received from and paid to customers and other persons in connection

with commodity futures transactior_ls or purported commodity futures

“transactions, and all disbursements for any purpose whatsoever of

funds received from commodity clients, including salaries,
commissions, fees, loans and other disbursements of money and
property of any kind, from, but not limited to, August 2003 to and

including the date of such accounting;

11



10 .

11
12
13
14
15
16

17

18
-19
20
21

22|

23

24

25
26
27

28

O 0 NN AN

H. Enter an order requiring the Defendant to pay costs and fees as

permitted by 28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 2412(a)(2); and

I. - Order such other and further remedial ancillary relief as the Court may

deem appropriate.

Date: July 12, 2005

Respectfully Submitted:

M%Wﬂ\/&

1fer Di¥mond
san Gradman
Rosemary Hollinger
Attorneys for the Commodity Futures
- Trading Commission

Mot Larrobore,”

- Kent Kawakami, A Bar No. 149803
Local Counsel
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